International Comparative Perspectives on School Attendance Problems

Analysis of statistics, risk groups and prevention in four countries

Susanne Kreitz-Sandberg

Åsa Backlund

Ulf Fredriksson

Malin Gren Landell

Joakim Isaksson

Maria Rasmusson

Project description and material for the Digital Workshop: International Comparative Perspectives on School Attendance Problems

18-19 March 2021



International Comparative Perspectives on School Attendance Problems

Analysis of statistics, risk groups and prevention in four countries

Susanne Kreitz-Sandberg, Åsa Backlund, Ulf Fredriksson, Malin Gren Landell, Joakim Isaksson & Maria Rasmusson

Abstract

This research project is funded by the Swedish Research Council. It has started on January 1st, 2020 and will be carried out under four years, until, December 31st, 2023. The purpose of this study is to investigate national, organisational and individual dimensions of school attendance problems (SAP) among 15 to 17-year-olds in Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan. The project uses a mixed method approach combining quantitative analysis of large-scale data on the national level with qualitative case studies on the organisational and individual level.

- 1. What can national and international comparative statistics contribute to our understanding of SAPs of adolescents in Sweden, compared to other chosen countries?
- 2. What can we understand about SAPs and its prevention from the perspective of professionals working with students (non-attending or risking non-attendance) and student health in the chosen countries?
- 3. How can we understand the situation of youth who belong to certain risk groups for SAPs, their perspectives on schooling and (possible lack of) support related to SAPs in these countries?

This project will combine inclusion as a normative perspective, reflecting socio-political ambitions and aims to reform school practices, with intersectionality as a theoretical and analytical lens. It will open up the internationally well-developed research field on school non-attendance to the Swedish audience and provide knowledge that can guide school leaders or student health teams in their preventive work. The project will contribute to the understanding of SAP by diversifying what is often generalized as international perspectives on SAP.

Keywords

School attendance problems, international comparison, support systems, students' perspective

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Purpose and aims	1
Background and earlier research	2
Terminology and concepts	3
The value of international comparative studies on SAP	4
Theoretical perspectives	5
Methodology	5
Preliminary time schedule and project planning	6
First study: National level	7
Second Study: Organisational level	8
Third study: Individual level	8
Ethical considerations	
How to conduct study 2 and 3 in Sweden	10
Significance of the study	11
Project organization: participants' roles and competences	11
References	12

Purpose and aims

The purpose of this study is to contribute understanding of the phenomenon of school attendance problems (SAP) of 15 to 17-year-old adolescents in Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan in an international comparative perspective. Compulsory education and a right to education is a general feature of modern welfare states, but a constant shadow is non-attendance. SAP has become a frequent topic in the media since a recent national investigation (SOU 2016:94) shed light on this field, which for decades has been neglected in Sweden. The report shows that there is a lack of knowledge about what can promote school presence. Internationally, this problem has been in focus for a long time (Reid, 2008; Ricking, 2003). In Japan, for example, school refusal has been problematized since the 1980s and various discourses on this problem have been analysed 20 years ago as today (Yoneyama, 2000; Horiguchi, 2018). At that time the topic was very exotic for international readers. Today, however, media and public agencies frequently write about what is described as a serious problem. Based on the results from Strand's dissertation (2013) there is a need to critically discuss how school and related systems can in a salutogenic way address truancy in order to break pattern of exclusion. Yet there is still very little research available in Sweden (Ekstrand, 2015) that can help us comprehend the situation and guide school leaders and student health teams in their preventive work.

Our project will, from an international comparative research perspective, investigate societal, organizational and individual perspectives on SAPs in different national contexts. The countries chosen for comparison are in accordance with the focus of this project in order to reflect different school systems and also different models of welfare states (Esping-Andersen, 1990). Esping-Andersen's ideas have dominated comparative welfare state discussions for decades; these ideas distinguish between universal, liberal, conservative, and other types of welfare regimes (Esping-Andersen, 1999). In the literature Sweden is often regarded as a typical example of Scandinavian 'universal welfare states' which organize many sub-systems like pensions or health care universally. As contrasting examples, we have chosen the UK as a 'liberal welfare state', Germany as a typical example of a 'conservative welfare state' and Japan, which has been described as an 'East-Asian Confucian welfare state' (Goodman, 1998). Investigating the role of schools in the context of welfare state theory is most appropriate because our project on SAPs investigates schooling not only as the provision of intellectual and social competence but also as the most central social institution in children's and adolescents' life. With Japan and the UK two countries with long tradition of gathering national data on school attendance and with Germany and Sweden two countries without such traditions are chosen.

The following research questions will be studied:

- 1. What can national and international comparative statistics contribute to our understanding of SAPs of adolescents in Sweden, compared to other chosen countries?
- 2. What can we understand about SAPs and its prevention from the perspective of professionals working with students (non-attending or risking non-attendance) and student health in the chosen countries? This part of the project will include case studies that, from the organizational level of working with SAPs, may provide possible strategies for prevention in specific risk groups. How can the support systems be structured, how is support being practised and what are the perspectives of key professionals involved? In an international

- comparative perspective, it will be interesting to understand which professionals are active in this work and how they reflect on their work.
- 3. How can we understand the situation of youth who belong to certain risk groups for SAPs, their perspectives on schooling and (possible lack of) support related to SAPs in these countries? This part of the project gathers data on an individual level.

Background and earlier research

All schools need to provide every single child with education, and SAPs needs to be counteracted and prevented (Thornton, Darmody, & McCoy, 2013). Swedish schools have been famous for their inclusive character. During recent decades, however, students have not performed as well as earlier in international tests like PISA (OECD, 2013). While Swedish schools were earlier known for their small differences between students from high or low socioeconomic strata (SES), social differences are now rising (Karlsson & Oskarsson, 2018). The inclusive character of schools has diminished since the 1990s (Vislie, 2003). While some people are critical of increasing neo-liberal tendencies, privatization and communalization in the school system, others blame Swedish school pedagogy with its strong focus on constructivism for this decline.

With our international comparative study, we want to shed light on Swedish education today by analysing it through the lens of SAPs. In Sweden data on SAPs is very scarce compared to some other countries, for example Japan, where statistics are followed up every year by the school authorities (MEXT). For Sweden, owing to quite limited statistical evidence, we need to lean on a recent study initiated by the Swedish government (SOU 2016:94); 1700 pupils in Grades 1-9 missed more than 30 days of schooling. This is approximately 0.17% or 0.07% of Grade 1-6 and 0.39% of Grade 7-9 students (The Swedish School Inspectorate / Skolinspektionen, 2016). These figures are similar to those from the 2009 survey of The Swedish National Agency for Education. Other studies, however, report higher figures (Gren-Landell et al., 2015) than these official statistics, which only focus on continuous and invalid non-attendance of all students included in compulsory education. With the information at hand, it is difficult to judge whether school non-attendance, and its risk of no longer being included into the classroom environment is a new or an increasing phenomenon in Sweden.

According to the international literature, "[s]chool refusal behaviour is a heterogeneous, dimensional construct consisting of extended absences from school, periodic absences from school or missed classes, chronic tardiness, and intense dread about school that precipitates pleas for future non-attendance" (Kearney, 2008, p. 452). International literature distinguishes between Individual risk factors such as injury, drug use, psychiatric disorders, violence and economic deprivation, and Contextual risk factors such as homelessness and poverty, teenage pregnancy, school violence and victimization, school climate and connectedness, parental involvement, and family and community variables (Kearney, 2008). In the literature of the early 2000s, SAPs is often connected with medical conditions ranging from epilepsy to lice, influenza, sleeping disorder, diabetics and chronic pain (over 30 articles from 2000-2006, in Kearney, 2008). Other studies connect absenteeism with psychiatric conditions, sometimes building on extended community studies (Egger, Costello, & Angold, 2005) and a large clinical sample (Kearney & Albano, 2004). Many more recent findings from international studies mirror those historical studies, for example, a great heterogeneity with respect to

symptomatology, connection with psychiatric diagnoses evident in children with school attendance difficulties, which largely include anxiety, depressive, and disruptive behaviour disorders. Poverty and chronic illness are quite clearly associated with absenteeism. And finally, emphasis is placed on specialized intervention conducted in close conjunction with family members, school officials and other relevant agencies (Holzer & Halfon, 2006; Lehmkuhl & Lehmkuhl, 2004, in Kearny, 2008) and a call for specific assessment tools.

According to recent Scandinavian research, *school refusal* is a phenomenon that is related to emotional distress and (psycho)somatic symptoms, while *truancy* is associated with rejecting school and with conduct disorders (Havik, Bru, & Ertesvåg, 2015b; Heyne, Gren-Landell, Melvin, & Gentle-Genitty, 2018). While parents have no knowledge or try to counteract their children's conduct in these cases, it is different when we talk about *school withdrawal*, where parents have knowledge or play an active role in keeping their children at home. Providing care to a relative who needs support and assistance because of a physical or mental illness, disability, drug-abuse problem or some other reason also influences students' possibilities to attend school and follow up their own education (Becker, 2007, in Nordenfors & Melander, 2017, p. 2; Hagborg, Berglund, & Fahlke, 2018); ten per cent of the group of young carers express school problems, 2/3 of whom are girls and 1/3 boys (Järkestig-Berggren, Bergman, Eriksson, & Priebe, 2018). Research is needed to understand these different forms of SAPs and to strengthen the welfare state and the children's rights against all kind of child labour or other forms of distress.

Havik, Bru, and Ertesvåg (2015a) have assessed different reasons for school non-attendance among Norwegian students (6th and 10th grade) and describe a lack of knowledge of possible reasons like somatic symptoms and subjective health complaints in relation to truancy and school refusal. On the basis of self-reported data, they argue that truancy and school refusal are different phenomena although the reasons given for both types of non-attendance are closely related. In earlier research, gender has been identified as a predictor of truancy, but it seems that girls nowadays appear as often as boys in the statistics of unauthorized absence (cf. Reid 2012, Attwood and Croll 2006, in Ekstrand 2015, p. 464). Many results from earlier research on different types of SAPs are in line with what is stressed in recent Swedish investigations (SOU 2016:94): a need to follow up all kinds of non-attendance as a serious risk for children's schooling and well-being.

There is a growing body of literature on SAPs (cf. for example references in Gren Landel, 2021) and our literature reviews, which we have conducted during the first year of the project focused among others on practical work with SAPs and specifically on a students' perspectives of support. The analysis of the material is still under work and will be revised in other contexts.

Terminology and concepts

In our project we follow the definitions of school attendance problems (SAPs) used in much of the (inter-)national literature. Heyne, Gren-Landell, Melvin and Gentle-Genitty (2018), in line with other international literature, differentiate between four major forms of SAPs: *school refusal*, *school truancy*, *school withdrawal* and *school expulsion*. These phenomena are also described in the research literature of the countries included in this project.

Relevant terminology in the field of problematic school absenteeism can vary within and between different countries. While the term school refusal (skolvägran, Schulverweigerung, tôkô kyohi登校拒否) was used earlier, school non-attendance (futôkô不登校, frånvaro i skolan, Schulversäumnis/

Schulabsentismus) has been the most common term since the 1990s. Truancy is translated as "skolk" in Swedish and "Schulschwänzen" in German, but in Japan 登校拒否 (tôkô kyohi) seems to be used, the same term as for school refusal. School withdrawal is referred to as "föräldrastödd frånvaro" in Swedish (Forsell, 2020). In German, "Zurückhalten" was used earlier (Bools et al. 1990 in Ricking, 2003), but although this phenomenon is being intensively studied in recent German research (Hillenbrand & Ricking, 2011; Ricking, 2017) no specific single term is in use.

From Gren Landell's publications we understand that Swedish school statistics, in accordance with the basic law for education, distinguish between valid and invalid non-attendance (Skolverket, 2008, 2010; Skolinspektionen, 2016a in Gren Landell, 2018:20) and between periodical and extended non-attendance. However, we will follow her argument that these ways of distinguishing non-attendance are neither easy nor necessarily helpful (Gren Landell, 2018; SOU 2016:94); we choose as our starting point the idea that all kinds of absenteeism *can* be problematic (Heyne et al., 2018).

There is not a single risk factor for SAPs (Gren Landell, 2021). Absence has been described as a risk factor of its own, as it tends to lead to more absence (Ingul, Havik & Heyne, 2019; Ingul & Havik, 2021; Keppens & Spryt, 2017). That is why we decided early during the project not to focus on specifically defined risk factors or "risk groups". We start our investigation close to the phenomena in question: children who have experience of school non-attendance.

The value of international comparative studies on SAP

The examples above show that absenteeism is perceived as problematic in many countries, but we know very little about it from a comparative perspective. There are studies from many international contexts. However, the specific phenomena are seldom explicitly discussed with rich contextual information from the respective education and social systems. Obviously, we need to take into account both differences in the education systems, specifics in the terminology and national discourses around the phenomenon when analysing SAPs. There are few international comparative studies on SAP (e.g. Grewe, 2005). We argue that case studies from different countries and international comparative analysis may contribute innovative perspectives related to SAPs.

In our project we will build on comparative statistics and then investigate organisational strategies and experiences from those in particular concerned, youth with SAPs. By this we want to provide a more holistic understanding of the phenomenon. We also want to add that research on SAP is often pursued from the perspective of medical sciences of psychology but only a very few studies have so far been carried out in social work and the education sciences, specifically in Sweden. With this said the project fits well into the field of international and comparative education. Studying SAP from such a comparative perspective will enable us to illustrate the background and consequences of not attending school.

Theoretical perspectives

This project combines inclusion as a normative perspective, which reflects socio-political ambitions and aims to reform school practices, with intersectionality as a theoretical and analytical lens. Sebba and Ainscow defined inclusion as "the process by which a school attempts to respond to all pupils as individuals by reconsidering its curricula organisation and provision. Through this process, the school builds its capacity to accept all pupils from the local community who wish to attend and, in so doing, reduces the need to exclude pupils" (as cited in Skidmore, 2004, p. 23). Inclusion means that all pupils should have access to a well-functioning school situation. Diversity of students should be seen as an asset and equal access to knowledge, social development and democracy education can make school environments inclusive (Nilholm & Göransson, 2013). By not attending school, these goals are being missed.

As there are various student groups who miss parts of their (mainly secondary) school education for various reasons, this study will use an intersectional perspective, whereby we will distinguish between the specific situations of girls and boys with different backgrounds and orientations. Intersectionality is a helpful concept when it comes to broadening the perspectives and finding adequate solutions, which is why it has become popular as an analytical framework in international education and social science research (Davis et al. 2015; Hill Collins & Bilge, 2016). Intersectionality makes it possible to take into account different dimensions of difference and categorizations like gender, class or ethnicity (Hill Collins & Bilge, 2018: 39). Intersectionality, according to Kimberlé Crenshaw (1991), concerns advancing a larger goal of promoting social justice and social change, so it is very relevant to the proposed project on SAPs and different risk groups. The theoretical contribution of the project will be to investigate a possible interrelationship of concepts of inclusion and intersectionality in different national and organisational contexts. The intersectional analysis of different national cases will help us to figure out international convergent and divergent trends in the research and practice concerning SAPs.

Methodology

The proposed research project on SAP builds on a mixed-method design (Plano Clark & Ivankova, 2016). Mixed methods play an important role in cross-cultural research (Schrauf, 2016) and have been discussed in combination with intersectional approaches (Hankivsky & Grace, 2015). Truly comparative studies demand not only good comprehension of methods but also flexibility in applying methods that are in accordance with the research focus. The proposed study uses statistics to build a quantitative framework for the national comparison (Study 1). Case studies, which build on qualitative data derived mainly from focus group and interview studies but also from background data, will illustrate the organisational level and perspectives of professionals working with school non-attenders (Study 2). Finally, the researchers will conduct qualitative interviews in the tradition of Kvale and Brinkman (2014) with students with experience of SAPs (Study 3). This part is at the heart of the project, since the student perspective is precisely what is missing in the debate on SAPs. The interview data will be analysed with thematic analysis. According to Braun and Clarke (2006) thematic analysis

is not tied to any specific epistemological or theoretical positions. Although thematic analysis is primarily descriptive, it still allows for analytical aspects. Thematic analysis can include an interpretative approach, whereby the researcher reasons about backgrounds, understandings and consequences of the presentation of a topic by target groups. In connection with rich contextual descriptions the cases will provide a basis (obviously not statistical) for what is called "analytical generalisation" (my translation, Kvale & Brinkman, 2014: 314-15). By means of this methodological approach we will gather rich material for understanding the SAP in Sweden, both in line with and in contrast to cross-culturally selected cases from countries that exemplify different school systems and welfare states.

Preliminary time schedule and project planning

The project will build on three consecutive and complementary sub-studies, including a series of case studies and cross-country analyses. It combines quantitative analysis of large-scale data and qualitative case studies (Table 1).

Table 1. Time schedule for the project: Data collection, analysis and presentation of results

	2020	2021	2022	2023
Study 1 National level	Statistical analysis of Pisa data and national statistics.	Contextual analysis and publication of results of Study 1		Interpretation of project results in relation to national school systems.
Study 2 Organisati onal level	Design, ethics examination, contact gate- keepers for case studies in four countries; pre-studies.	Field visits: Two municipalities/ country. 2-3 schools/ municipality. Interviews and focus groups. Transcription.	Thematic analysis. Continued: Field visits, interviews and focus groups.	Problematizing of analysis and publication in open-access journals.
Study 3 Individual level	Design, ethical approval in Sweden and other countries.	Defining specific risk groups in the four school systems according to statistics, literature review and Study 2. Meetings with students who have experience of SAP; interviews.	Continued interviews in all countries (at least 10 in each country). Transcription and thematic analysis of interviews. Indepth analysis.	Continued analysis of the data and publication on student perspective on SAP in openaccess journals.
Survey of literature and overall analysis	Literature reviews on SAP, focus on countries under study.	Literature reviews continued, focus on risk groups.	Analysis of literature from methodological perspectives.	Analysis of all three studies in relation to international and national literature.

Workshop / conference	Workshop for researchers and international and national collaborators and gatekeepers. (March 2021)	Continued communication with collaborators in the context of international research conferences.	Conference with presentations of finalised and ongoing studies and contributions of international collaborators.	Publication of conference results in open-access journals or peer-reviewed book.
Publicatio ns	Publish results from Study 1.	Open-access publication of literature reviews.	Open-access publication of Studies 2 and 3.	Open-access publication of collected results.

First study: National level

In this part of the project we will answer the first research question: What can national and international comparative statistics contribute to our understanding of SAP of adolescents in Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan? Absenteeism and SAP are very difficult to quantify because the behaviour includes complete and partial absences, tardiness and anxiety-based difficulties in attending school (Kearney, 2008). Different quantifying studies are based on a variety of instruments. In order to find a standardized instrument which is available for all the countries included in the project, we will build on data in the PISA study as well as other data and national statistics.

PISA contains data from representative samples of 15-year olds from Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan, collected on seven occasions, from 2000 to 2018. A question about truancy has been included in these studies and it will be possible to see the development over a period of time. It is also possible to relate truancy to students' result in the PISA tests and to describe the composition of the groups who have had unauthorized absence from school in respect of gender, socio-economic status and migration background for all the four countries included in the study (see Project report on PISA data).

Research questions to be answered with PISA data:

- 1. How many students are absent from school? Are there any differences between the countries? Are there any trends?
- 2. How do students who report that they have skipped classes perform in reading comprehension, mathematics and science in the PISA tests compared to other students?
- 3. Who are the absent students? Gender? Socio-economic background? Migration background? From private or public schools? Rural or urban? Are there differences or similarities in patterns between the countries? Are there any trends?
- 4. How big is the problem with truancy according to the principals? Are there differences between the countries? Are there trends?

Self-reported data and officially assembled data differ substantially (Keppens, Spruyt & Dockx, 2019). Student self-reported data will be combined and contrasted with national statistics from the four countries (UK Department of Education; MEXT, School Basic Survey Ofsted; Skolverket, Skolinspektionen; Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, Kultusministerkonferenz or equivalent). National statistics will be presented, compared and discussed in relation to the results

from the PISA study and in relation to data from research studies. The analysis of this quantitative material will contribute to our understanding of SAP, including risk groups and other relevant aspect. Different terminology and categorization in different research communities will be considered. Data can also be analysed in relation to immanent representations of SAP (WPR). The results will partly guide Studies 2 and 3.

Second Study: Organisational level

The question to be answered in the second part of the project is what we can understand about SAP and prevention from the perspective of professionals working in school and with student health by systematically gathering data and material on the situation in the four countries. Study 2 focuses on organizational dimensions: how the support systems can be structured (from national to regional and local policy level), how it is practised (both internally at schools and externally via contacts with social services, etc) and what are the perspectives of key professionals involved (on remedial and preventive strategies regarding SAP, especially as this certainly differs between countries). Documentation of non-attendance in different schools can be part of the analysis of what kind of absenteeism is being registered and followed up.

Study 2 in the project will build on focus-group and individual interviews with actors from different support systems in and around school such as school leaders, teachers and student health systems, including school social workers, school psychologists and special needs educators; and depending on the context also with actors in independent schools and NGOs. Interviews aim at gaining practical knowledge about actual conduct and describing the organization and support context in each school effectively.

The interview data will be analysed with thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke 2006). Following Bacchi (2012) on the need to problematize policies, her approach regarding "what's the problem represented to be" (WPR) can also be used to analyse how proposed and practiced strategies reveal what is seen as problematic. Analysing representation of problems allows us to problematize how actors make meaning and how this meaning-making may interact with policies and practices.

Third study: Individual level

The third study will put the individual in focus, asking how we can understand the situation of youths who belong to certain risk groups for SAP, their perspectives on schooling and (possible lack of) support related to SAP in the four countries. Although it is important to understand different organizational contexts and support systems and to analyse the perspectives of professionals who work with these students, it is perhaps most important to get to know the students' own experiences and how they reflect on their experience of SAP. In accordance with the results from Studies 1 and 2, we will interview adolescents who have experience of school non-attendance. The age group selected for the study consists of 15 to 17-year olds. 15- year olds are part of compulsory education in all of these countries while the older pupils are strictly speaking not legally bound to go to school in Sweden or Japan. However, there is a very high consensus of opinion on the importance of schooling for young persons after the age of 15, which can make this group especially vulnerable.

In each of the countries at least 10 adolescents will be interviewed. These adolescents will probably be from the same municipalities (or equivalent) in which Study 2 was conducted. Studying SAP on an

individual level will fill an important research gap in the overlapping field of school studies and social welfare studies with the focus on children and youth.

To sum up, Studies 1 and 2 can be understood as preparatory for Study 3. The results will be presented for every single study, but the final aim will be to combine the results from all three studies in order to provide understanding of the phenomenon of SAP among 15 to 17-year-old adolescents in Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan in an international comparative perspective.

Ethical considerations

The Swedish Regional Ethics Board has approved data collection in Sweden (Dnr. 2020-05441; Decision 2020-11-24).

In all research, ethical considerations are of central importance, not least when the research involves adolescents and concerns matters that can be considered sensitive (see CODEX – Rules and Guidelines for Research). In this project we will apply for ethical examination because we expect that the project will need to be approved by the Regional Ethics Board. Applications for ethical examination of research are scrutinized by the new Swedish Ethical Review Authority from January 1st, 2019.

The project builds on three studies. The first study analyses data from PISA and national statistics. This data is already published and fully anonymised. Using already existing data can be more ethical than gathering new large-scale data. However, as we will analyse the data through an intersectional lens, we will need to be especially careful not to stigmatise certain populations or describe them in negative terms.

According to the Act concerning the Ethical Review of Research Involving Humans (SFS 2003:460 and SFS 2008:192), research has to undergo formal ethical review if sensitive personal data is to be part of the research. In our project, Studies 2 and 3 in particular may be sensitive as we plan to interview professionals working with adolescents (in Study 2) and 15- to 17-year old adolescents themselves (in Study 3) about school nonattendance. We have chosen this design because it is precisely the student perspective that in missing in research on understanding school attendance problems. Professionals are important informants for understanding and comparing the organizational level in the countries included in the project.

To implement the study, we need the informed consent of the school management, the professionals and the students. Participants will be informed of their right to decline or to quit the study without giving specific reasons. All data will be anonymised in transcript and handled according to the recent law for data protection. A data protection plan will be written as soon as the project is accepted. The data will be described, documented, stored and used in a secure manner and we will take responsibility for all ethical aspects involved. We cannot exclude the possibility that we will be given sensitive information during the interviews and that involves responsibility on the researchers' side. Ways of tackling this risk will be developed further when applying for formal ethical consent because all research involving handling of sensitive personal data must be examined regardless of whether research subjects give their informed consent or not.

This study will be carried out in Sweden and in three other countries. For Sweden we have applied for ethical clearance which has as mentioned above been approved during 2020. We will need to

understand the laws in the UK, Germany and Japan in order to carry out similar ethical examination in these countries, too.

How to conduct study 2 and 3 in Sweden

Both study 2 and 3 are based on a qualitative research method. The following paragraphs describe the slightly developed research plan which has been approved by The Swedish Regional Ethics Board and which is the basis for our ongoing discussions with a number of municipalities in Sweden.

For study 2, two or three municipalities will be chosen in Sweden. We will initially conduct shorter (telephone/online-) interviews with school leaders at (all) lower secondary schools (schools that include school years 8-9) in the selected municipalities and with responsible professionals for student health teams in the municipalities. These interviews aim to obtain an overview of the overall support structure around the work with SAP, including information about the formal policy and organization (e.g. responsibilities of different involved actors, routines for registering school attendance and the practical work towards pupils who for various reasons miss part of their schooling) including policy on promotion and preventive measures. The interviewed persons are also important as gate-keepers to teachers and other professionals who are working with related matters in the respective municipality and in the schools.

Based on the gathered information, focus groups will be created consisting of teachers and other professionals (mainly student health staff). We target actors who have experience of working with students (with absenteeism) or work with systematic attendance promotion work in the municipalities. The focus group interviews will address issues of support systems for students with attendance problems and preventive and attendance-promoting work. At least two focus groups will be conducted in each municipality; one with teachers and one with student health staff. All together about 30 persons will share their experiences and views in these focus groups. In addition to the focus groups, policy documents and guidelines for the work with school attendance will also be collected. Such material from local, regional and national level will be relevant for understanding the work in the individual municipalities with school attendance. It will be helpful during the analysis and provide a context for what we can learn in the focus groups.

For study 3, (at least) 10 individual interviews will be conducted with adolescents who have experiences of non-attendance. The selection of adolescents will be made from the same municipalities as in study 2 and based on the contacts with the school leaders and other professionals that participated in study 2. The criteria for participating in the study will (primarily) be that the student has reached the age of 15 and has, or has had, experiences of SAPs. The amount of non-attendance among the adolescents will be specified based on information about local policy and statistics. The main focus in the interviews will be on the adolescent's experiences of and perspectives on received or lacked support/reactions from school regarding attendance, and not on how the adolescent view the causes to their non-attendance. Adolescents who meet the selection criteria will be invited to participate in the study via letters from the researchers that are either sent out by the school and / or distributed via school staff.

Significance of the study

A growing number of international studies document the importance of regular school attendance (e.g. Thornton Darmody, McCoy, 2013). Not attending school regularly has negative implications for the students' scholastic achievement, their social development and their possibilities to participate in society and the labour market. This international research field has only recently been reflected in Swedish studies. Although there are no simple solutions to the complex problem of absenteeism, we argue, in line with international research, that more knowledge of factors concerning SAP will provide a better understanding of the problem; it will also facilitate policies and strategies that can provide answers to this in- creasing challenge in many post-modern societies. The primary goal of the study, however, is to contribute understanding of the phenomenon of SAP among 15 to 17-year-old adolescents in Sweden, the UK, Germany and Japan in an international comparative perspective. The study will also make a long-term contribution to the field of international and comparative education

Project organization: participants' roles and competences

Susanne **Kreitz-Sandberg** (Stockholm University, Department of Education, International and Comparative Education) coordinates the project and contributes to all the studies. Kreitz-Sandberg has worked for more than two decades on international comparative studies on Japan, Germany, Sweden and other countries (Kreitz-Sandberg, 2008, 2015; Kreitz-Sandberg & Lesch, 2019). She speaks all the four languages relevant to this study and has interviewed teachers and other professions in these countries. She is experienced both in research and in science management. Among other tasks she will also investigate literature studies, gathering and analysing data in collaboration with the project team and international collaborators.

Malin **Gren Landell** has headed the national investigation SOU (2016:94) on school non-attendance and has published widely both in scientific journals and in popular science on SAP (e.g. Gren Landell, 2018; 2021). She has a PhD in psychology and is at present working in a Swedish municipality as a project leader for central student health. Her local, national and international networks will help us get in contact with informants and reach out with results from the project.

Ulf **Fredriksson**, Associate Professor, Stockholm University, Department of Education, has experience of large-scale studies. He has worked with PISA (Fredriksson, Karlsson & Pettersson, 2018) and is experienced in methodological questions related to PISA (Oskarsson et al., 2016). He has also investigated for the government a reading, writing and mathematics guarantee related to students with weak school results (Fredriksson, Rasmusson & Sundgren, 2012). He will contribute to Studies 1 and 2.

Maria **Rasmusson** (Uppsala University) has experience from work with data in large-scale studies such as PISA and PIAAC. She will support more complex statistical analysis for Study 1. See for example Rasmusson (2016) or Rasmusson and Fredriksson (2018).

Åsa **Backlund** (Stockholm University, Department for Social Work) will support Studies 2 and 3 with the design and analysis of the data. In her research Backlund has examined the support system in Swedish schools called "elevhälsa" (student health) in which different professions provide support for teachers and school leaders to help students achieve school targets (Backlund, 2007), a research field that is still scarcely investigated, particularly regarding social problems and support. Relevant publications: Backlund (2013, 2018); Backlund et al. (2012, 2017); Backlund & Gren Landell, 2017; Backlund & Högdin, 2017; Trygged, Backlund, & Elofsson (2017)

Joakim **Isaksson** (Stockholm University, Department for Social Work) has conducted several studies regarding the organization of psychosocial resources for pupils in need of special support in Swedish schools (Ek, Isaksson & Eriksson, 2017; Isaksson, 2017). These studies cover several levels in the education system from the policy level (Isaksson, 2011; Isaksson & Lindqvist, 2015) to the organizational / school level (Isaksson et al. 2007, 2010a) and further to an individual level with pupils' experiences of special support (Isaksson et al. 2010b). Isaksson will contribute design, analysis and publication in peer-reviewed journals.

Obviously, all the project members will be involved in the publication of the results of the various studies in the project and will contribute to national and international collaboration.

References

- Backlund, Å. (2007) *Elevvård i grundskolan. Resurser, organisering och praktik.* [Pupil welfare in Swedish schools resources, organization and practice]. Stockholm: Stockholms universitet, Institutionen för socialt arbete. Diss.
- Backlund, Å. (2018) Samarbete mellan olika professioner i skolan. [Collaboration between different professions in school].In: Insulander, E. & Selander, S. (ed.) *Att bli lärare*. Stockholm: Liber
- Backlund, Å., Högdin, S. & Spånberger Weitz (ed.) (2017) *Skolsocialt arbete. Skolan som plats för och del av det sociala arbetet* [School Social Work. School as a place for and part of Social Work]. Malmö: Gleerups utbildning AB.
- Backlund, Å. & Gren Landell, M. (2017) Problematisk skolfrånvaro kunskapsunderlag och rekommenderade strategier.[Problematic school non attendance knowledge base and recommended strategies]. In: Backlund, Å., Högdin, S. & Spånberger Weitz (ed.) *Skolsocialt arbete*. *Skolan som plats för och del av det sociala arbetet*. Malmö: Gleerups utbildning AB.
- Backlund, Å., & Högdin, S. (2017) Skolan som arena för integration? Begrepp, perspektiv och dilemman [The school as an arena for integration? Concepts, Perspectives and Dilemmas]. In: Backlund, Å., Högdin, S. & Spånberger Weitz (ed.) Skolsocialt arbete. Skolan som plats för och del av det sociala arbetet. Malmö: Gleerups utbildning AB.
- Backlund, Å. (2013) En skola för alla? Förutsättningar och utmaningar i det skolsociala arbetet. [A school for all? Prerequisites and Challenges in School Social Work]. In: Karlsson, L-B., Kuusela,K., & Rantakeisu, U. *Utsatthet, marginalisering och utanförskap*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

- Backlund, Å., Wiklund, S. & Östberg F. (2012) När man misstänker att barn far illa: En studie av hur professionella inom BVC, förskola och skola förhåller sig till anmälningsplikten. [When You Suspect Child Abuse or Neglect A Study of how professionals in Child Health Care, Pre-School and School reason and Act in case of Child Maltreatment Suspicion]. Stockholm: Rädda Barnen.
- Bodén, L. (2016). *Present absences: Exploring the posthumanist entanglements of school absenteeism*. Linköping University, Faculty of Educational Sciences: PhD Dissertation.
- Braun, V. & V. Clarke. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(1), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the margins: intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241–1299. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039
- Davis, D. J., J. Brunn-Bevel, R., L. Olive, J., & R. Jones, S. (2015). *Engaged Research and Practice for Social Justice in Education: Intersectionality in Educational Research*. Sterling, Virginia: Stylus Publishing.
- Egger, H., Costello, E. J., & Angold, A. (2005). 10-year research update review: The epidemiology of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders: I. Methods and public health burden. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 44, 972–986.
- Ek, H., Isaksson, J. & Eriksson, R. (2017). Professioner, makt och samverkan mellan myndigheter Socialtjänstens, skolans och BUP:s arbete med ungdomar som inte går till skolan. *Socialvetenskaplig tidskrift*, 24(1), 59-77.
- Ekstrand, B. (2015). What it takes to keep children in school: a research review. *Educational Review*, 67(4), 459–482. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2015.1008406
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). The three worlds of welfare capitalism. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1999). *Social Foundations of Postindustrial Economies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Forsell, T. (2020). "Man är ju typ elev, fast på avstånd": problematisk skolfrånvaro ur elevers, föräldrars och skolpersonals perspektiv, Doktorsavhandlingar i pedagogiskt arbete, 93
- Fredriksson, U. A., Pettersson, A. & Karlsson, K.-G. (Eds.) *Pisa under 15 år: resultat och trender*. Stockholm: Natur och kultur.
- Goodman, R. (1998). The 'Japanese-style welfare state' and the delivery of personal social services. In H.-J. K. R. Goodman, G. White (Ed.), *The East Asian welfare model. Welfare orientalism and the state* (pp. 139–158). London: Routledge.
- Gren-Landell, M., Allvin, C. E., Bradley, M., Andersson, M., Andersson, G., Allvin, C. E., & Bradley, M. (2015). Teachers' views on risk factors for problematic school absenteeism in Swedish primary school students. *Educational Psychology in Practice31*, 31(4), 412–423. https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2015.1086726
- Gren Landell, M. (2018). Främja närvaro: Att förebygga frånvaro i skolan. Litauen: Natur & Kultur.
- Gren Landell, M. (Ed.)(2021). School Attendance Problems. A Research Update and Where to Go. Stockholm: Jerringfonden.

- Grewe, N. (2005). *Absenteeism in European Schools*. (N. Grewe, Ed.). Münster: Lit. Retrieved from https://play.google.com/books/reader?id=CqgyNuPg97sC&hl=sv&pg=GBS.PA1
- Hagborg, J. M., Berglund, K., & Fahlke, C. (2018). Evidence for a relationship between child maltreatment and absenteeism among high-school students in Sweden. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 75 (January 2017), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.08.027
- Hankivsky, O., & Grace, D. (2015). Understanding and emphasizing difference and intersectionality in multimethod and mixed methods research. In *The Oxford handbook of multimethod and mixed methods research inquiry* (pp. 110–127). New York: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199933624.013.8
- Havik, T., Bru, E., & Ertesvåg, S. K. (2015a). Assessing Reasons for School Non-attendance. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research3*, *59*(3), 316–336. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2014.904424
- Havik, T., Bru, E., & Ertesvåg, S. K. (2015b). School factors associated with school refusal and truancy-related reasons for school non-attendance. *Social Psychology of Education*, *18*(2), 221–240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-015-9293-y
- Heyne, D., Gren-Landell, M., Melvin, G., & Gentle-Genitty, C. (2018). Differentiation Between School Attendance Problems: Why and How? *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2018.03.006
- Hill Collins, P., & Bilge, S. (2016). *Intersectionality*. Cambridge, UK & Malden: US: Polity Press.
- Hillenbrand, C., & Ricking, H. (2011). Schulabbruch: Ursachen, Entwicklung, Prävention. *Zeitschrift Für Pädagogik*, *57*, *Heft 2*, 153–172.
- Horiguchi, S. (2018). Are Children Who do not go to School "Bad", "Sick" or "Happy"? Shifting interpretations of Long-Term School Nonattendance in Postwar Japan. In Yonezawa, A. et al. (Eds.). *Japanese Education in a Global Age* (pp. 117-136). Singapore: Springer.
- Ingul, J. M., Havik, T., & Heyne, D. (2019). Emerging school refusal: A school-based framework for identifying early signs and risk factors. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, *26*, 46–62. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2018.03.005
- Ingul, J. M. & Havik, T. (2021). Early Identification of Attendance Problems. in: Gren Landell, M. (Ed.). *School Attendance Problems. A Research Update and Where to Go* (p. 63-68). Stockholm: Jerringfonden.
- Isaksson, J., Lindqvist, R. & Bergström, E. (2010a). 'Pupils with special educational needs': a study of the assessments and categorizing processes regarding pupils' school difficulties in Sweden. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14(2), 133-151.
- Isaksson, J., Lindqvist, R. & Bergström, E. (2010b). Struggling for recognition and inclusion parents' and pupils' experiences of special support measures in school. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 5: 4646 DOI: 10.3402/qhw.v5il.4646.
- Isaksson, J. (2017). Sociala perspektiv på skolans arbete med åtgärdsprogram och särskilt stöd. I: Å. Backlund., S. Högdin. & Y. Spånberger Weitz (red.). *Skolsocialt arbete skolan som plats för och del i det sociala arbetet*. Malmö: Gleerups.

- Isaksson, J. (2011). Re-evaluating the meaning of school difficulties. I: A. Egan Sjölander. & J. Gunnarsson Payne, eds. *Tracking discourses: politics, identity and social change*. Lund: Nordic Academic Press.
- Isaksson, J. & Lindqvist, R. (2015). What is the meaning of special education? Problem representations in Swedish policy documents: late 1970s-2014. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 30(1), 122-137.
- Järkestig-Berggren, U., Bergman, A. S., Eriksson, M., & Priebe, G. (2018). Young carers in Sweden—A pilot study of care activities, view of caring, and psychological well-being. *Child and Family Social Work*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12614
- Karlsson, K. G. & Oskarsson, M. (2018). Likvärdighet. In Fredriksson, U. A., Pettersson, A. & Karlsson, K.-G. (Eds.) *Pisa under 15 år: resultat och trender* (pp. 115-130). Stockholm: Natur och kultur.
- Kearney, C. A. (2008). School absenteeism and school refusal behavior in youth: A contemporary review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 28(3), 451–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2007.07.012
- Kearney, C. A., & Albano, A. M. (2004). The functional profiles of school refusal behavior. *Behavior Modification*, 28, 147–161.
- Keppens, G. & Spruyt, B. (2017). The development of persistent truant behaviour: an exploratory analysis of adolescents's perspectives. *Eduational Research*, 59, 353-370.
- Keppens, G., Spruyt, B., & Dockx, J. (2019). Measuring school absenteeism: Administrative attendance data collected by schools differ from self-reports in systematic ways. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2653.
- Kreitz-Sandberg, S. (2008). The influence of socio-cultural and environmental factors on the adolescents' life and development: Japanese youth from a Western reader's perspective. *Asia Europe Journal*, *5*(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10308-007-0150-2
- Kreitz-Sandberg, S. (2015). 'As an educator you have to fix many things on your own ' A Study of Teachers' Perspectives on Organizing Inclusion in Various Welfare Contexts. In G. Hellesdatter Jacobsen (Ed.), *Rights of Children in the Nordic Welfare States Conceptual and Empirical Enquiries* (pp. 145–167). Aarhus: NSU Press/ Aarhus University Press.
- Kreitz-Sandberg, S. & Lesch, V. (2019). Die Entwicklung der sozialwissenschaftlichen Diskussion über Schulabsentismus in Japan: Neue Trends oder ein altes Phänomen? (The Development of Social Science Discussions on School Absenteeism in Japan: New Trends or an Old Problem?).
 In: Chiavacci, D. & I. Wieczorek (2019). *Japan 2019. Politik, Wirtschaft und Gesellschaft* (pp. 262-298). München: iudicium.
- Kvale, S. & Brinkmann, S. (2014). Den kvalitativa forskningsintervjun. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Nilholm, C. & Göransson, K. (2013). *Inkluderand'e undervisning vad kan man lära av forskingen?* FoU skriftserie nr3. Specialpedagogiksa skolmyndigheten.
- Nordenfors, M. & Melander, C. (2017). *Young carers in Sweden A short overview*. Report: NKA, Borås: Swedish Family Care Competence Centre.
- OECD (2013). PISA 2012 Results (Volume IV): What Makes Schools Successful? Resources, Policies and Practices. Paris: OECD Publishing.

- Plano Clark, V. L., & Ivankova, N. V. (2016). *Mixed Methods Research: A Guide to the Field*. Thousand Oaks, California. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483398341
- Rasmusson, M. (2016). A multilevel analysis of Swedish and Norwegian students' overall and digital reading performance with a focus on equity aspects of education. Large-scale *Assessments in Education*, doi: 10.1186/s40536-016-0021-7.
- Rasmusson, M. & Fredriksson, U. (2018). PISA, reading literacy, and computer-based assessment. I Northern Lights on TIMSS and PISA 2018. Nordisk Ministerrådet (TemaNord).
- Reid, K. (2008). The causes of non-attendance: An empirical study. *Educational Review*, 60(4), 345–357. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131910802393381
- Reid, K. (2012). The strategic management of truancy and school absenteeism: Finding solutions from a national perspective. *Educational Review*, 64(2), 211–222.
- Ricking, H. (2003). *Schulabsentismus als Forschungsgegenstand*. *Heilpädagogische Forschung* (Vol. XXIII). https://doi.org/04.2003.22
- Ricking, H. (2017). Schulabsentismus. Zeitschrift Für Jugendkriminalrecht Und Jugendhilfe ZJJ, 28(3), 265–270.
- Schrauf, R. (2016). Mixed Methods Cross-Cultural Comparison. In *Mixed Methods: Interviews, Surveys, and Cross-Cultural Comparisons* (pp. 214-237). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781316544914.012
- Shimizu, K. (2011) Defining and Interpreting Absence from School in Contemporary Japan: How the Ministry of Education Has Framed School Non-attendance. *Social Science Japan Journal*, *14* (2) pp. 165–187.
- SOU 2016:94. (n.d.). Att vända frånvaro till närvaro en utredning om problematisk elevfrånv. Stockholm. Retrieved from https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/statens-offentliga.../01/sou-201694/%0A%0A
- The Swedish School Inspectorate / Skolinspektionen. (2016). Omfattande ogiltig frånvaro i Sveriges grundskolor.
- Strand, A. (2013). *Skolk ur elevernas och skolans perspektiv: en intervju- och dokumentstudie.* Diss. Jönköping: Högskolan i Jönköping, 2013. Jönköping.
- Thornton, M., Darmody, M., & McCoy, S. (2013). Persistent absenteeism among Irish primary school pupils. *Educational Review*, 65(4), 488–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.768599
- Trygged, S., Backlund, Å. & Elofsson, S. (2017). Patterns of Poor Health among Junior and Senior High School Students in Sweden. *Health Behavior Policy Review*, 4 (3): 294-305.
- Vislie, L. (2003). From integration to inclusion: Focusing global trends and changes in the western European societies. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 18(1), 17–35.
- Yoneyama, S. (2000). Student Discourse on Tokokyohi (School Phobia/Refusal) in Japan: Burnout or empowerment? *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *21*(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690095171

International Comparative Perspectives on School Attendance Problems

Stockholm University SE-106 91 Stockholm

Project page:

https://www.edu.su.se/english/research/international-comparative-perspectives-on-school-attendance-problems

